1988

# Leon H. Saunders v. John C. Sharp and Sharp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## II. JURISDICTION

The Judgment that is the subject of this appeal is a final order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. (R. 1370-77, Add. 1-8). The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-3(2)(j). Pursuant to Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, this appeal was transferred to the Court of Appeals for disposition by order of the Utah Supreme Court dated December 22, 1988.

## III. NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the Judgment of the district court, dated September 26, 1988. (R. 1370-77; Add. 1). The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were also entered on September 26, 1988. (R. 1326-1364, Add. 9-47). Pursuant to Rule 59, Utah R. Civ. P., Appellants timely filed their Motion for New Trial pursuant to Rule 59, Utah R. Civ. P., which was denied on October 31, 1988. On November 9 and November 16, 1988, notices of appeal were timely filed by Appellants. A Joinder of Appeal was filed by Kenneth R. Norton ("Norton") on November 16, 1988.

## IV. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellants purchased property from Respondents for the purpose of developing a residential subdivision. The purchase price was \$1,583,055. The agreement required a down payment of \$620,000 and the balance in five annual installments. Payment was secured by a trust deed given by Appellants to Respondents. The agreement also required Respondents to partially reconvey property, at the time of closing and thereafter, as installments were made. At closing, Respondents conveyed fee title to Appellants. After closing, Appellants constructed improvements on the property (including

utilities, a well and a private roadway) ultimately costing in excess of \$1,000,000.

Appellants paid Respondents \$1,546,400. However, Respondents refused to reconvey property to be released as payments were made, including the private roadway which was specifically mentioned in the agreement. Appellants demanded reconveyance of the property but Respondents refused. After Respondents failed to reconvey the property, Appellants ceased making further installment payments, and Respondents commenced a non-judicial foreclosure.

The court ruled that Appellants first breached the parties' agreement by failing to pay approximately \$3,200 in property taxes. That breach, the court ruled, excused Respondents' obligation to reconvey property. Respondents never claimed a default for non-payment of taxes until this action was filed. The non-payment of taxes occurred after Respondents refused to reconvey the roadway. The court entered judgment of foreclosure against Appellants.

This appeal is made to correct this inequitable and erroneous result.

#### **V. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

1. Did the court err in ruling that Respondents did not breach the parties' Contract by failing to reconvey portions of the property covered by the Trust Deed given by Appellants in favor of Respondents, even though Appellants satisfied all conditions precedent in the Contract for the reconveyances?

2. Did the court err in ruling that the Respondents reconveyed property covered by the Trust Deed when they consented to

Appellants' recording of a plat and protective covenants for the development of the Property?

3. Did the court err in ruling that the Respondents' breach of contract was excused because of their reliance upon advice of counsel?

4. Did the court err in ruling that Respondents were excused from their contractual obligation to reconvey portions of the Property because Appellants failed to make specific requests for reconveyance of lots prior to Appellants' alleged default under the Contract?

5. Did the court err in concluding that Respondents did not act in bad faith in withholding the reconveyances, and thus Appellants were not entitled to relief under Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-33?

6. Did the court err in not compelling Respondents to specifically perform the Contract by reconveying portions of the Property covered by the Trust Deed and not granting other relief to Appellants?

8. Did the court err in ruling that Appellants' first breached the Contract by failing to pay approximately \$3,200 in real estate taxes?

9. Did the court err in ruling that Respondents granted an easement over the Roadway to themselves?

10. Did the court err in ruling that Respondents were entitled to an award of attorneys' fees, and was the award of \$144,469 reasonable?

11. Did the court err in ruling that the temporary restraining order enjoining Respondents' foreclosure and sale of the Property was wrongfully issued?

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. THE PARTIES' CONTRACT.

On November 9, 1980, the Appellants Leon H. Saunders ("Saunders"), Kenneth R. Norton ("Norton") and Robert Felton ("Felton"), together with other persons not parties to this action,<sup>1/</sup> agreed to purchase from Respondents, John C. Sharp and Geraldine Y. Sharp, 60.078 acres of unimproved real property near Park City, Utah (the "Property"). (F. ¶ 1, Add. 11; Ex. D-14; TR. 27, 81, 341). The Property was purchased for the purpose of developing four- or five-acre residential lots. (F. ¶ 2, Add. 11; TR. 341).

On July 16, 1981, at the closing of the sale (the "Closing"), the parties executed a Memorandum of Closing Terms ("Closing Memorandum") (Ex. D-15, Add. 71), a Trust Deed Note (Ex. D-3, Add. 64), a Trust Deed (Ex. D-2, Add. 60) and a Warranty Deed (Ex. D-17, Add. 83), collectively the "Contract". (TR. 30-31, 88, 358). These Closing documents were prepared by Respondents' counsel, Jon C. Heaton. (TR. 30-31).

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants include Saunders, Felton, Saunders Land Investment Corporation, a Utah corporation ("SLIC"), Norton, White Pine Ranches ("WPR"), a general partnership formed after the Closing, and White Pine Enterprises ("WPE"), a general partnership which acquired a twenty-five percent (25%) interest in a portion of the Property (see Ex. P-46). Only Appellants Saunders, Felton and Norton executed the Contract. Paul H. Landes, one of the purchasers, sold his interest to Daniel C. Hunter III, who, in October, 1983, transferred his interest to SLIC. (Ex. P-46).

The Appellants agreed to pay Respondents \$1,583,055.30 for the Property, \$620,000 of which was paid as a down payment at Closing. (Ex. D-14). Pursuant to the Trust Deed Note, Appellants agreed to pay Respondents the remaining \$963,055.30 in five annual \$192,611.06 installments. (Ex. D-3, Add. 64; TR. 33, 88-89). At Closing, Respondents conveyed fee title to the Property to Appellants subject to the Trust Deed, securing payment of the Trust Deed Note. (F. ¶ 10, Add. 13; Ex. D-2, Add. 60; Ex. D-3, Add. 64; Ex. D-15, Add. 71; and Ex. D-17, Add. 83; TR. 32-33, 37, 90, 94-95 and 358). Associated Title Company ("Associated Title") was named as the trustee under the Trust Deed. (Ex. D-2, Add. 60).

Respondents agreed in the Closing Memorandum that

after recordation of the PUD<sup>2/</sup> Plat and the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions, and upon receipt of each \$140,000.00 in principal (but not including the earnest money and down payment money), [Respondents] shall execute and deliver to [Appellants] a Partial Deed of Reconveyance for one (1) PUD lot.

(F. ¶ 15, Add. 14-15; Ex. D-15 ¶ 1, Add. 71 (emphasis added); TR. 41-42). Respondents also agreed that

Upon the payment of the release price, [Appellants] shall be entitled to the release of one (1) lot of [Appellants'] choice upon receipt of the payment or at any time thereafter.

(F. ¶ 16, Add. 15; Ex. D-15 ¶ 2, Add. 71 (emphasis added)).

---

<sup>2</sup> The Contract's reference to "PUD lots" was intended to mean a Planned Unit Development, which is a private residential development having some characteristics in common with a subdivision and condominium, but not necessarily subject to the Utah Condominium Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 57-8-1, et seq. (1953, as amended). The PUD involved in this case did not satisfy several of the requirements of the Utah Condominium Act and, therefore, is not subject to it.

The Closing Memorandum also provided that

at the time of execution of this Memorandum, [Appellants] have paid to [Respondents] the sum of \$620,000.00 which will release from the Deed of Trust three (3) PUD lots. Upon the recordation of the PUD Plat and Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions with the Summit County Recorder, [Appellants] shall be entitled to the release from the Deed of Trust of three (3) PUD lots of [Appellants'] choice together with the said roadway. (emphasis added.)

(F. ¶ 17, Add. 15; Ex. D-15 ¶ 3, Add. 71; TR. 46, 89-90, 352-53).

A plat depicting a proposed development of the Property and showing an internal roadway to be constructed for access to the lots from a county highway was affixed to the Closing Memorandum. (F. ¶ 18, Add. 15-16; Ex. D-15 ¶ 5, Add. 72; Ex. D-124; TR. 561, 829). Respondents agreed that "[c]hanges in the proposed plat and Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions when prepared shall be subject to the reasonable approval of [Respondents]." (F. ¶ 18, Add. 15-16; Ex. D-15 ¶ 5, Add. 72). The purpose of this provision was to assure Respondents, who owned adjacent property, that Appellants would construct a quality development. (TR. 138, 744).

It is undisputed Appellants paid Respondents a total of \$1,546,400, which amount includes the down payment, the 1982 through 1984 installments and part of the 1985 installment. (Ex. D-15, Add. 71, P-44; TR. 36-39, 53-55, 94-96, 353-358).

On December 23, 1983, the plat of White Pine Ranches Phase I (the "Plat") and the Declaration of Protective Covenants for White Pine Ranches, a Planned Residential Development (the "CCRs"), were recorded in the Office of the Summit County Recorder.. (F. ¶ 40, Add. 22; Ex. D-1, Add. 59; Ex. P-51, Add. 91-131; TR. 90-91). Six (6) lots and the private, internal roadway ("White Pine Lane" or



"Roadway"), were described on the Plat and dedicated as Phase I of the project. (Ex. D-1, Add. 59). The remaining Property (approximately one-half), abutting the Roadway to the south, was not platted. (F. ¶ 33, Add. 20). The Plat delineated the existence and location of certain utility easements, including those for water lines, a water tank and water system, substantial portions of which were to be constructed on the unplatted property. (F. ¶ 34, Add. 20; Ex. D-1, Add. 59). Appellants were prepared to plat the balance of the Property (the "unplatted property") at a later time and so advised the Respondents. (Ex. D-37; TR. 138, 202).

On December 23, 1983, Appellants satisfied all conditions in the Closing Memorandum and paid sufficient principal to entitle them to the release of five (5) lots and the Roadway. (Ex. D-7, Add. 67; Ex. P-51, Add. 91; and Ex. P-53; TR. 90-91; 96; 322-23). By June 30, 1984, they paid additional principal entitling them to the release of a sixth lot. (Ex. P-53; TR. 49-50; 95-96). As of June 30, 1985, Appellants had paid sufficient principal to entitle them to the reconveyance of 7.35 acres of the unplatted property. (Id.)

Respondents approved the recordation of the Plat and CCRs by executing a Consent to Record in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Closing Memorandum. (F. ¶ 39, Add. 22; Ex. D-7, Add. 67; TR. 39-40). Respondents' consent was obtained amid a disagreement involving Felton and Jon C. Heaton ("Heaton")<sup>3/</sup> regarding

---

<sup>3</sup> Considerable confusion exists about whom Heaton was representing and when. Respondents called Heaton both as a fact and expert witness at trial. (TR. 755-56). It is undisputed that at least at different times he represented both Respondents and one of the Appellants, White Pine Ranches, concerning the transactions that are the subject of this action. (TR. 725-26, 789-94). Heaton also testified that after Closing he acted as a mediator for the parties. (TR. 792, 845). Despite numerous requests by Appellants,

Respondents' use and access rights over the Roadway. (See Ex. D-25, Add. 85; Ex. D-26A, Add. 86). According to Heaton, when Respondents were asked to approve the Plat and CCRs, they sought access rights over the Roadway. (Ex. D-25, Add. 85). Felton communicated his refusal to Heaton by letter dated November 21, 1983. (Ex. D-26A, Add. 86). After Respondents executed the Consent to Record (Ex. D-7, Add. 67), and prior to its recordation, Heaton claimed that, based upon a telephone conversation with Felton, Appellants agreed to grant an easement in favor of Respondents over the Roadway. Heaton claimed that during the conversation he wrote the following in the left margin of Felton's letter: "Felton agrees access over road retained if Sharp develops undeveloped property as Lots 7-12 White Pine Ranch." (F. ¶ 37, Add. 21; Ex. D-26A, Add. 86; TR. 750). Felton disputes any such agreement. (TR. 168). No writing expressly modifying the Contract was ever executed. (TR. 166-168, 372).

After recording the Plat and CCRs, Appellants began construction of improvements to the Property at a total cost of \$1,063,348.10. (Ex. P-60; TR. 102-103). The improvements included construction of the Roadway, on-site improvements (underground electrical, gas, water, fire hydrant and sewer systems) and off-site improvements, including lengthy sewer and utility systems. (TR. 138-39, 141-42, 249-50, 330). A culinary well to serve the Property was drilled on Lot 6, and a large water storage tank for culinary purposes and fire protection was constructed on the unplatted

-----  
Heaton was unable to produce his billing records, which presumably would have detailed his representation of the parties. (See, e.g., TR. 843-51).

property. (Id.) These improvements were funded with a \$650,000 loan from Tracy Mortgage Company. (TR. 118).

On January 18, 1984, Respondents, without a formal written request from Appellants, wrote Associated Title directing it to release and reconvey Lots 1 through 5 from the Trust Deed. (F. ¶ 42, Add. 23; Ex. D-28, Add. 88; TR. 69-70). However, Respondents did not direct the release of the Roadway. (TR. 46, 457-59). To the contrary, they instructed that "[e]xcept for the property described above [Lots 1 through 5] all other portions of the property remain subject to the Trust Deed." (Ex. D-28, Add. 88).

On or soon after January 20, 1984, Respondents received a letter from Felton requesting Respondents deliver deeds reconveying Lots 1 through 5 and the Roadway. (Ex. D-30, Add. 89; TR 104-06). Felton stated he was at a "complete loss as to why the . . . deeds [had not] been delivered," although acknowledging that the "deeds (sic) for the roads (sic) may be difficult to do." (F. ¶ 44, Add. 23; Ex. D-30, Add. 89; TR. 104-05).

Although the Contract entitled Appellants to the reconveyance of Lots 1 through 5 no later than January 20, 1984, a Partial Reconveyance, reconveying Lots 1 through 5, was not recorded until March 28, 1986, more than two years later. (F. ¶ 43, Add. 23; Ex. P-45, Add. 90; TR. 68-70). Respondents could not explain the delay. (F. ¶ 43, Add. 23; TR. 70-71).

On November 30, 1984, property taxes for Lot 6 and the unplatted property of approximately \$4,725.00 became due and payable, of which Appellants paid \$1,515.24. (F. ¶¶ 48 and 49, Add. 24-25; TR. 707-708). Respondents never asserted Appellants were in default due to the non-payment of property taxes until they filed

their Answer and Counterclaim. (Compare Ex. D-24, D-36 and P-55 with Answer and Counterclaim, R. 67-89). Respondents never claimed that Appellants defaulted prior to June 30, 1985. (TR. 50).

**B. RESPONDENTS' FORECLOSURE OF THE UNRELEASED PROPERTY.**

Respondents recorded a Notice of Default on September 16, 1985 and published an Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale on December 19, 1985. (F. ¶ 51, Add. 25; Ex. P-55, P-56; TR. 66). Appellants objected because the Notices included Lots 1 through 5 and the Roadway. (F. ¶ 54, Add. 25-26; Ex. D-35, P-57; TR. 106-107, 109). Respondents later published an Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale excluding Lots 1 through 5, but not excluding the Roadway. (F. ¶ 55, Add. 26; Ex. P-58).

On February 27, 1986, Felton objected to the Notices and demanded the release of the Roadway and Lot 6. (Ex. D-35; TR. 109). Felton received no response other than an Amended Notice of Default, dated April 29, 1986. (F. ¶ 55, Add. 26; Ex. D-36; TR. 109-10). On May 7, 1986, Felton again demanded the reconveyance of Lot 6 and the Roadway. (Ex. D-37; TR. 110). Again, Respondents never responded to Felton (TR. 110); they simply published a Second Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale, which included Lot 6, the Roadway and all of the unplatted property. (Ex. D-5, Add. 66). Suit was filed and the scheduled trustee's sale was enjoined pursuant to a temporary restraining order entered by the Honorable Judith Billings. (R. 50-51, 61). The parties subsequently stipulated to an injunction. (R. 96-97).

**C. THE TRIAL.**

Appellants claimed Respondents materially breached the Contract because they had never reconveyed the Roadway, Lot 6 or the 7.35

acres. Appellants contended that Respondents were required to release the Roadway on December 23, 1983 (or no later than January 20, 1984), Lot 6 on June 30, 1984 and the 7.35 acres on June 30, 1985.<sup>4/</sup> (Ex. D-53; TR. 96). Respondents asserted, however, they were excused from reconveying this property because Appellants failed to request releases, or alternatively, because the Consent to Record in effect released the Roadway. (R. 1650, p. 45-47). Appellants sought specific performance of the Contract (i.e., release of Lot 6, the Roadway and the 7.35 acres) as well as damages arising from Respondents' breach of the Contract.<sup>5/</sup>

As a specific performance remedy, Appellants claimed Respondents' failure to release and reconvey portions of the Property on or about January 20, 1984, excused Appellants' obligation to make further installment payments, and tolled the accrual of interest on the unpaid principal balance. Appellants further asserted Respondents wrongfully refused to release and reconvey the Property, and Appellants were entitled to recover statutory damages under Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-33. (The text of Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-33 is set forth in the Addendum at 133.)

By counterclaim, Respondents alleged Appellants materially breached the Contract, sought a dissolution of the injunction to permit Respondents' non-judicial sale of the Property and claimed

---

<sup>4</sup> Actually, Appellants became entitled to 5.35 acres on June 30, 1984 and the remaining 2.0 acres on June 30, 1985. (Ex. D-53).

<sup>5</sup> The damages included interest on construction loans (TR. 960-63), sales lost because of Appellant's foreclosure of the Property (TR. 270-90), damages in the amount paid for Lot 6, the Roadway and the 7.35 acres which were never conveyed plus interest, loss of Appellants' benefit-of-the-bargain (Ex. P-96), and attorney's fees.

damages for the wrongful issuance of the injunction. Before and throughout trial, Respondents sought to foreclose Lot 6, all of the unplatted acreage and the Roadway. Although Respondents offered a stipulation during closing argument that their non-judicial or judicial foreclosure of the Roadway would not extinguish the rights of access of Lots 1 through 5 to the Roadway, Respondents nonetheless sought the foreclosure of the Roadway. (R. 1641, p. 27-28; R. 1650, p. 43).

The court rejected every claim of Appellants. The court ruled, inter alia, Appellants materially breached the Contract by failing to pay property taxes for Lot 6 and the unplatted acreage on November 30, 1984 (approximately \$3,200.00) (C. ¶ 2, Add. 38); because this breach preceded any claimed breach of Respondents, Respondents were excused from releasing Lot 6, the Roadway and the 7.35 acres; Appellants were obligated to request and identify lots specifically for release, but failed to timely do so prior to their breach on November 30, 1984 (C. ¶¶ 8 and 9, Add. 39); and Respondents were entitled to foreclose and sell Lot 6 and all of the unplatted property. (C. ¶¶ 34-35, Add. 46-47). Judgment was entered against Appellants for \$742,984.67,<sup>6/</sup> and the property was ordered sold at Sheriff's Sale. (R. 1370, Add. 3-4; C ¶ 31-34, Add. 44-47).

---

<sup>6</sup> The Judgment is comprised of \$371,739.35 in principal, \$171,033.54 in interest, \$14,869.57 in late fee charges, \$1,803.80 in trustee's fees, \$2,881.04 in court costs, \$144,088.75 in attorneys' fees and \$20,368.62 for 1984-1987 property taxes on Lot 6 and the unplatted property. These property taxes have been paid.

## VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

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