1988

Leon H. Saunders, Robert Felton, J. Richard Rees, Saunders Land Investment Corp., a Utah corporation, White Pine Ranches, a Utah general partnership, and White Pine Enterprises, a Utah general partnership v. John C. Sharp, Gerladine Y. Sharp and Associated Title Company, a Utah corporation, as Trustee v. Commissioner of Financial Institutions as Receiver for Tracy Collins Bank and Trust company, as Surety : Brief of Respondent



Part of the [Law Commons](https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca1)

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

Given the aggressive posture taken by White Pine Ranches below, it is no wonder that it has taken a shotgun approach on appeal.¹⁷ Eleven issues are presented on appeal in White Pine

¹⁷ Generally, authorities frown on alleging too many points of error. Judge Franklin Spears of the Supreme Court of Texas in 1985 stated: "If you cannot win reversal with your six best points, then the 20th or 30th will probably be unsuccessful, too." (cont.)

Ranches' Brief, pp. 2-4. However, the actual number of issues are greatly expanded in the body of the Brief, since there are more than two dozen argument headings set forth in the Table of Contents. The following summarizes the Sharps' response to the alleged plethora of trial court errors.

White Pine Ranches materially breached the Contract by failing to pay the entire 1984 or any of the 1985, 1986 and 1987 property taxes on the Property when due and by failing to pay the entire 1985 or any portion of the 1986 installment payment. (F. 100, R. 1354, Add. B45; C. 2-4, R. 1355, Add. B46). It was the specific practice of White Pine Ranches to request a release of a specific PUD lot after required payments were made and provided no default existed. (F. 47, R. 1341, Add. B32; Tr. 334, R. 1643). Accordingly, since White Pine Ranches' breaches preceded any request for releases, the Sharps were not obligated to release Lot 6, the roadway or the unplatted acreage. (F. 59, R. 1343, Add. B34; F. 100, R. 1354, C. 8, R. 1356, Add. B47). Should this Court agree, all of the remaining issues raised by White Pine Ranches are moot. The Sharps committed no breach of the parties' Contract

17 (cont.)

Spears, Presenting an Effective Appeal, 21 Trial 95(6) (November 1985). See also Baskin, Wasted Words or Persuasive Prose: Connecting with the Appellate Court, 58 Fla. B. J. 69-72 (1985) (A scatter-gun approach weakens an argument).

and were excused by White Pine Ranches' breaches from further performance. (C. 5, 6 & 9, R. 1356, Add. B47).

Moreover, the Contract provisions respecting release of the roadway were modified by the parties when it was agreed the Sharps could retain access until the Trust Deed Note was paid in full (C. 14, R. 1358, Add. B49; see C. 9, R. 1356, Add. B47). Alternatively, the Sharps' execution of the Consent to Record and the subsequent recordation of the final plat and the CCRs on the Property constituted a release of the internal roadway and was a non-exclusive easement, equitable servitude or covenant running with the land, allowing an owner of unplatted acreage access to the roadway the same as a PUD lot owner. (C. 11, R. 1357, Add. B48). Finally, the Sharps agreed not to and were estopped to deny the use of the roadway for the private use of a PUD lot owner. (C. 12 & 13, R. 1357-1358, Add. B48-49).

The district court did not err in concluding White Pine Ranches failed to show it was entitled to relief under Utah Code Ann. Section 57-1-33 since the Sharps, in fact, requested the trustee to release Lots 1-5 of the PUD. (C. 24, R. 1360, Add. B51). Since White Pine Ranches was not entitled to a release of Lot 6, the roadway or the unplatted acreage, there could be no cause of action for failure to request a release. Furthermore, the Sharps reasonably relied upon the advice of counsel, in good faith, which is a valid defense under the statute. (C. 23, R. 1360, Add. B51).

Because White Pine Ranches breached the Contract, it is not entitled to any damages. Moreover, the damages sought are too remote, speculative and conjectural. (C. 28, R. 1361, Add. B52). Further, White Pine Ranches has failed to establish it suffered any actual damages. Id.

The Sharps are entitled to recover their attorney's fees under numerous provisions of the parties' Contract in enforcing the Contract, in defending and protecting their right to collect on the Note and in prevailing on their Counterclaim. (F. 96, R. 1352-1353, Add. B43-44). Furthermore, White Pine Ranches failed to challenge below the amount of or the reasonableness of the award of attorney's fees sought. (R. 1261-1273; Tr. 62, R. 1640).

ARGUMENT

Since detailed citations to the Record and Exhibits have been set forth above in the Statement of the Case, Statement of Facts and Summary of Argument, citations in this section will, for the sake of brevity, generally be limited to the single principal reference, usually found in the Findings of Fact or an Exhibit.

POINT I

WHITE PINE RANCHES IS REQUIRED TO REQUEST LOTS TO BE RELEASED BEFORE THE SHARPS HAVE ANY DUTY TO RECONVEY

The Utah Supreme Court has consistently held that the meaning and intent of an agreement can be determined from the course of conduct and the action and performance of the parties to the

agreement. Zeese v. Estate of Siegel, 534 P.2d 85 (Utah 1975); Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 501 P.2d 266 (Utah 1972).

The trial court concluded: "Plaintiffs were obligated, under the terms of the Memorandum of Closing Terms and pursuant to their own practice, to specifically request and identify lots, including Lot 6, for release by the Sharps." (C. 7, R. 1356, Add. B47; Accord, F. 47, R. 1341, Add. B32) (emphasis added). This Conclusion was based upon the following Exhibits, testimony and Findings by the lower court:

a) The Memorandum of Closing Terms expressly sanctions the release of "PUD lots of Buyer's [White Pine Ranches'] choice," given certain conditions discussed more fully above under the Statement of the Case. (Ex. 15, para. 3, see Ex. 15, para. 2, Add. A9).

b) Felton testified: "Wait a minute, wait a minute. No, just from recalling the contract, I'm going to recant that testimony because I do believe the contract says lots of the buyer's choice and that would require a choice." (Tr. 334, R. 1643).

c) White Pine Ranches recognized the limited entitlement to request the release of PUD lots only. In a letter Felton stated: "Upon final plat approval, we will notify you to obtain the releases for the lots and the road as per the contract." (Ex. 21, Add. C64) (emphasis added).

d) It was the practice of White Pine Ranches to request the release of specific PUD lots. In a letter, White Pine Ranches indicated in the near future it would seek the release of PUD lots 1-5. (Ex. 25, Add. C67).¹⁸

e) White Pine Ranches was "land banking." That is, White Pine Ranches delayed recording a final plat because "[a]s soon as we file the plat, real estate taxes are going to go up significantly, which we would like to avoid until we have an actual buyer for one of the lots." (Ex. 23, Add. C65-66).¹⁹

f) White Pine Ranches wanted to keep open its options as to the unplatted acreage, requesting by letter the approval by the Sharps of a "multi-family development." (Ex. 29, Add. C73).

g) White Pine Ranches indicated to the Sharps they could plat the remaining Property any time. Accordingly, White Pine Ranches "may prepare a plat of the then unplatted acreage and seek a release of a portion of it instead of Lot 6." (F. 61, R. 1344, Add. B35). Accordingly, ample evidence and authority exists to support the trial court's conclusion that White Pine Ranches is required to request releases before any such duty arises.

¹⁸ White Pine Ranches could have chosen any other combination such as PUD lots 2-6.

¹⁹ Approximately one-half of the Property had not been platted at the time of trial. (C. 34, R. 1363, Add. B54.)

POINT II

SINCE WHITE PINE RANCHES MATERIALLY BREACHED THE CONTRACT IT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY RELEASES

If this court affirms the lower court's findings that White Pine Ranches was required to specifically request and identify lots, including Lot 6, for release and White Pine Ranches was in breach of the Contract prior to any request for the release of Lot 6, the roadway and 7.5 acres of the unplatted acreage, then any duty to reconvey is excused. Further, the remaining issues raised by White Pine Ranches would be moot since they rest upon establishment of premises negative to a requirement of a specific request for lots to be released and to a finding that White Pine Ranches first breached the Contract.

The failure to pay real estate taxes is a material default which precludes a release of lots from of a mortgage. City Bank Farmers Trust Co. v. Heckmann, 164 Misc. 234, 297 N.Y.S. 592, 595 (Sup. Ct. 1937); Clason's Point Land Co. v. Schwartz, 237 A.D. 741, 262 N.Y.S. 756, 760 (App. Div. 1933). In Markowitz v. Republic Nat'l Bank, 651 F.2d 825, 827 (2nd Cir. 1981), the court held that because the debtor failed to pay taxes for 1972, 1973 and 1974, but in 1973, requested the release of certain lots, the debtor was precluded from demanding release of the property so long as he was in default. Moreover, if a trustor (White Pine Ranches) is in default at the time it requests reconveyance, the beneficiary (the Sharps) is not obligated to reconvey. Las Vegas

Ranch Club v. Bank of Nev., 97 Nev. 389, 632 P.2 1146, 1147-1148 (1981); see also Sharp v. Brock, 626 S.W.2d 166 (Tex. Civ. App. 1981) (Debtors not entitled to release where they fail to make timely demand for release or designate specifically which land was to be released).²⁰

Provisions requiring payment of taxes and certain installments are material. City Bank Farmers Trust Co., 297 N.Y.S. at 594-595. As the court in Clason's Point Land Co., 263 N.Y.S. at 759-760, noted:

To ascertain the objects and purposes of the mortgage, the instrument must be examined as a whole. The mortgagee [seller] was entitled to payment and satisfaction of the mortgage debt at a specified time and to the preservation of the security intact until such payment and satisfaction. The mortgagor [buyer] was bound, among other things, to make semiannual payments of interest, and to pay taxes, assessments, and water charges on the mortgaged premises. The release clause

²⁰ The cases of Burroughs v. Garner, 43 Md. App. 302, 405 A.2d 301 at 306 (1979) and Columbia Dev. v. Watchie, 252 Or. 81, 448 P.2d 360 (1963) cited by White Pine Ranches are distinguishable. In Burroughs, the payments entitling the plaintiff to a release were prior to any defaults by plaintiff and the condition requiring the land to be platted before the buyer was entitled to release had been waived. In the case at hand, the parties clearly intended the Property would be platted before being released. In Columbia Dev., the Oregon court, sitting in equity, determined under the wording of the contract and the "facts and circumstances" surrounding execution, entitlement to release survived default. The Court found the plaintiff was not prejudiced since there was ample security after release. In the matter at hand, the Property clearly was not ample security. (C. 33, R. 1368, Add. B59; J. 4, R. 1373, Add. B54.) Finally, in Eldridge v. Burns, 76 Cal. App. 3rd 396, 142 Cal. Rptr. 845 (1971), another case cited by Plaintiffs, the court only held that the buyer was entitled to release for entitlement accruing prior to default.

is not to be viewed as independent of the mortgagor's covenants. The various provisions of the mortgage must be construed as dependent stipulations. The right in the mortgagor to pay stipulated amounts for release of parts of the mortgaged premises was a privilege of which she might have availed herself, but apparently did not. The payment of the interest and taxes was, on the other hand, a definite obligation....

(citations omitted).

In a transaction where several documents are executed simultaneously and are clearly interrelated, they must be construed together and harmonized if possible. Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat'l Bank, 737 P.2d 225 (Utah 1987). It is the obligation of the court when interpreting and construing the documents to look at them in their entirety and in accordance with their purpose. Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Co. v. Salt Lake City, 740 P.2d 1357 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). In this case, the operative Contract documents were executed simultaneously at the closing on July 16, 1981 and should be construed together.²¹ In construing the operative Contract documents as an integrated whole, the release provisions in the Memo (Ex. 15, para. 1-4, Add. A9-10) must not be viewed as being independent of the provisions for payment of taxes and installments in the Trust Deed (Ex. 2, para. 5, Add. A2) and Trust Deed Note (Ex. 3, Add. A5).²² White Pine Ranches was in default

²¹ The integration provision of the Memo, para. 9, incorporates all other "closing documents executed simultaneously herewith." (Ex. 15, Add. A11-12).

²² White Pine Ranches directly breached the Memo in failing to make available to the Sharps within a reasonable time sewer and water connections. (F. 100, R. 1354, Add. B45).

under the Contract prior to any request for the release of Lot 6, the roadway, or the unplatted acreage²³ and was not entitled to release of Lot 6, the roadway or any unplatted acreage. Moreover, White Pine Ranches was not entitled to release of the unplatted acreage since it had not met another condition of release, recordation of a plat.

POINT III

PURSUANT TO A MODIFICATION OF THE CONTRACT, THE SHARPS RELEASED THE ROADWAY BY EXECUTING THE CONSENT TO RECORD

It is elementary that any contract may be modified by subsequent agreement provided that all the elements essential to the

²³ White Pine Ranches seems to imply that because the Sharps didn't assert a default with regard to the 1984 taxes, that, somehow, the failure to pay those taxes is no longer a default. A breach is a breach, however, at the time it occurs regardless of whether the non-breaching party seeks to enforce the agreement. Bjork v. April Indus., 547 P.2d 219 (Utah 1976), appeal after remand 560 P.2d 315, cert. den. 97 S.Ct. 2634, 431 U.S. 930, 50 L.Ed.2d 245 (Damages began to accrue once defendant breached agreement. Plaintiffs not required to take steps to enforce agreement); see Quin Blair Enter. v. Julien Const. Co., 597 P.2d 945 (Wyo. 1979) (Parties free to ignore provisions of contract but must understand that they bear the consequences of such disregard when breach becomes fact of life). Curiously, White Pine Ranches seeks to have the argument regarding notification both ways. Although White Pine Ranches asserts the Sharps should have claimed a default with regard to the taxes, White Pine Ranches also asserts that it had paid enough of the release price by December 23, 1983 for release of the roadway, apparently without notification to the Sharps. (See Appellants' Brief, p. 7). Further, White Pine Ranches provides no answer to the protection the Sharps insisted upon in event of default. If the roadway was to be automatically released from the Trust Deed, how would access rights be preserved for the Sharps?

formation of a contract are observed. See, Cheney v. Rucker, 14 Utah 2d 205, 381 P.2d 86 (1963). A party to a written contract may orally modify it regardless of any provision in the contract to the contrary. Dillman v. Massey Ferguson, Inc., 13 Utah 2d 142, 369 P.2d 296 (1962); Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc., 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P.2d 337 (1960). Here, even if the Memorandum required a reconveyance of the roadway, the parties clearly modified the Contract by agreeing, through the negotiations and correspondence (including a letter (Ex. 31) signed by a general partner of White Pine Ranches) preceding the execution of the Consent to Record, that the Sharps would retain access in consideration of their Consent. Additionally, White Pine Ranches accepted the executed Consent without requiring more and should be estopped to deny its effect. Brown v. Holden, 410 P.2d 528 (Okla. 1965) (Party cannot deny making contract and retain benefits flowing from transaction).

The Sharps' execution of the Consent to Record the final plat and the CCRs constituted a release of the internal roadway, either in accordance with paragraphs 3 and 5 of the Memo or in accordance with the subsequent modification of the Contract. The term "release" has been defined as "the relinquishment, concession or giving up of a right, claim, or privilege by the person against whom it exists or to whom it accrues, to the person against whom it might have been demanded." Clearly, the Sharps conceded their right of "reasonable approval" of any changes under para. 5 of the

Memo. (Ex. 15, Add. A10). 76 C.J.S. Release Section 1 (1976); Coopey v. Keady, 73 Or. 66, 144 P. 99 (1914).

The Consent to Record allowed White Pine Ranches to record its plat and CCRs which reserved a non-exclusive easement for utilities and vehicular and pedestrian access over the private roadway...." (F. 39, Add. B30) (emphasis added). White Pine Ranches, on page 20 of its Brief, argues in one short paragraph that the execution of the Consent was not a "reconveyance."²⁴ White Pine Ranches did not argue below the concept of "reconveyance" as opposed to "release" nor was Judge Frederick asked to make such a distinction. White Pine Ranches cannot now raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Valley Bank & Trust Co. v. U.S. Life Title Ins. Co., 111 Utah Adv. Rep. 71 (1989).²⁵

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